QUANEX CORP Form PREM14A December 20, 2007

# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549 SCHEDULE 14A

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Amendment No. )

Filed by the Registrant b

Filed by a Party other than the Registrant of

Check the appropriate box:

- **þ Preliminary Proxy Statement**
- o Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))
- o Definitive Proxy Statement
- o Definitive Additional Materials
- o Soliciting Material Pursuant to §240.14a-12

## **Quanex Corporation**

(Name of Registrant as Specified In Its Charter)

(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if other than the Registrant)

Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):

- o No fee required.
- b Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.
  - 1) Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies: Common Stock, \$.50 par value
  - 2) Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies: 37,227,774
  - 3) Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined): \$39.20
  - 4) Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction: \$1,459,328,740.80
  - 5) Total fee paid: \$44,802
- o Fee paid previously with preliminary materials.
- o Check box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for which the offsetting fee was paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the Form or Schedule and the date of its filing.
  - 1) Amount Previously Paid:
  - 2) Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:
  - 3) Filing Party:
  - 4) Date Filed:

#### **Table of Contents**

QUANEX CORPORATION 1900 West Loop South Suite 1500 Houston, Texas 77027 (713) 961-4600

#### To Our Stockholders:

Quanex Corporation has entered into an agreement with Gerdau S.A. and Gerdau Delaware, Inc. pursuant to which Gerdau Delaware, Inc. will merge with and into Quanex (we refer to this agreement, as it may be amended from time to time, as the merger agreement, and we refer to Gerdau S.A. as Gerdau and Gerdau Delaware, Inc. as Gerdau Delaware). Immediately prior to and in connection with the merger, Quanex will spin-off to its stockholders a subsidiary containing all of the assets comprising the Building Products Group of Quanex. We are sending this proxy statement to Quanex stockholders to ask for your vote in favor of the approval and adoption of the merger agreement. If Quanex stockholders approve and adopt the merger agreement and the merger is subsequently completed, Quanex stockholders will receive \$39.20 and one share of Quanex Building Products Corporation common stock in connection with the spin-off for each share of Quanex common stock they hold as of the closing date. Quanex stockholder approval is not needed for, and you are not being asked for a proxy in relation to, the proposed spin-off of the Building Products Group of Quanex.

You are cordially invited to attend a special meeting of stockholders of Quanex to be held at a.m., Central time, on February , 2008, at the Company s principal executive offices at 1900 West Loop South, 15th Floor, Houston, Texas. This document is a proxy statement for Quanex to use in soliciting proxies for its special meeting of stockholders. Attached is an important document containing answers to frequently asked questions and a summary description of the merger (beginning on page 1), followed by more detailed information about Quanex, the proposed merger and the merger agreement. We urge you to read this document carefully and in its entirety.

Our Board of Directors has unanimously approved the merger, the merger agreement and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, and has declared the merger, the merger agreement and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement advisable and in the best interests of our company and its stockholders. Our Board of Directors unanimously recommends that you vote FOR the proposal to adopt the merger agreement.

The merger agreement must be adopted by the affirmative vote of a majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock entitled to vote on the matter. The proxy statement accompanying this letter provides you with more specific information concerning the special meeting, the merger agreement and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. We encourage you to read carefully the accompanying proxy statement, including the annexes. You also may obtain more information about our company from us or from documents we have filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Your vote is very important regardless of the number of shares of common stock that you own. Whether or not you plan to attend the special meeting, we urge you to vote and submit your proxy in order to ensure the presence of a quorum. If you fail to vote by proxy or in person, or fail to instruct your broker on how to vote, it will have the same effect as a vote against the proposal to adopt the merger agreement.

Therefore, we request that you authorize your proxy by completing, signing, dating and returning the enclosed proxy card as promptly as possible. The enclosed proxy card contains instructions regarding voting. If you hold your shares through an account with a broker, nominee, fiduciary or other custodian, please follow instructions you receive from them to vote your shares. If you attend the special meeting, you may continue to have your shares voted as instructed in the proxy, or you will have the right to withdraw your proxy at the special

meeting and vote your shares in person.

Sincerely,

Raymond A. Jean *Chairman of the Board* 

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has passed upon the adequacy or accuracy of this proxy statement. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

This proxy statement is dated January  $\,$  , 2008 and is first being mailed to Quanex stockholders on or about January  $\,$  , 2008.

#### REFERENCES TO ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

You can obtain any of Quanex Corporation s filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission from Quanex through the SEC EDGAR Information link located on the financial information page of its website at <a href="https://www.quanex.com">www.quanex.com</a> or from the Securities and Exchange Commission through its website at <a href="https://www.sec.gov">www.sec.gov</a>. We are not incorporating the contents of the websites of the Securities and Exchange Commission, Quanex or any other person into this document.

# NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS To Be Held February , 2008

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that a Special Meeting of Stockholders of Quanex Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the Company ), will be held at the principal executive offices of the Company, 1900 West Loop South, Suite 1500, Houston, Texas, on February , 2008, at a.m., Central time, for the following purposes:

- (1) To consider and vote upon a proposal to approve and adopt the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of November 18, 2007, by and among Quanex Corporation, Gerdau S.A. and Gerdau Delaware, Inc. As a result of the merger, the Company will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of Gerdau S.A. and each outstanding share of the Company s common stock will be converted into the right to receive \$39.20 per share in cash, without interest.
- (2) To consider and vote upon a proposal to adjourn or postpone the special meeting, if necessary, to solicit additional proxies in favor of the approval and adoption of the merger agreement.
- (3) To consider and transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournment or adjournments thereof.

Information with respect to the above matters is set forth in the proxy statement that accompanies this Notice.

The Board of Directors has fixed the close of business on January , 2008, as the record date for determining stockholders entitled to notice of and to vote at the meeting. A complete list of the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting will be maintained at the Company s principal executive offices, will be open to the examination of any stockholder for any purpose germane to the meeting during ordinary business hours for a period of ten days prior to the meeting, and will be made available at the time and place of the meeting during the whole time thereof.

Our Board of Directors unanimously recommends that you vote FOR the proposal to adopt the merger agreement and FOR the proposal to approve any adjournments of the special meeting for purpose of soliciting additional proxies.

The merger agreement must be adopted by the affirmative vote of a majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock that are entitled to vote on the matter. Any adjournments of the special meeting for the purpose of soliciting additional proxies must be approved by the affirmative vote of a majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock present in person or by proxy at the special meeting and entitled to vote on the matter. **Your vote is very important regardless of the number of shares of common stock that you own.** Whether or not you plan to attend the special meeting, we urge you to vote and submit your proxy in order to ensure the presence of a quorum. If you fail to vote by proxy or in person, or fail to instruct your broker on how to vote, it will have the same effect as a vote against the proposal to adopt the merger agreement but will have no effect on the outcome of the adjournment proposal.

We request that you authorize your proxy by completing and returning the enclosed proxy card as promptly as possible. The enclosed proxy card contains instructions regarding voting. If you hold your shares through an account with a broker, nominee, fiduciary or other custodian, please follow instructions you receive from them to vote your shares. Stockholders who do not vote FOR the proposal to adopt the merger agreement will have the

right to seek appraisal of the fair value of their shares if the merger is completed, but only if they submit a written demand for appraisal to us before the vote is taken on the merger agreement and they comply with all other requirements of Delaware law, which requirements are summarized in the accompanying proxy statement.

Please execute your vote promptly. Your designation of a proxy is revocable and will not affect your right to vote in person if you find it convenient to attend the meeting and wish to vote in person.

By order of the Board of Directors,

Kevin P. Delaney
Senior Vice President General Counsel and Secretary

Houston, Texas

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
Summary	1
The Merger Parties	1
The Merger	2
The Spin-Off	3
Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences	3
Recommendation of the Quanex Board of Directors	4
Opinion of Lazard Frères & Co. LLC Financial Advisor to Quanex	4
Interests of Quanex Directors and Executive Officers in the Merger	4
Conditions to Completion of the Merger	4
Regulatory Matters	5
Termination of the Merger Agreement	5
Non-Solicitation Provision and Acquisition Proposals	5
Fees and Expenses	6
Appraisal Rights	6
Market Price of Our Common Stock	6
Questions and Answers About the Merger and the Special Meeting	7
Information About The Special Meeting and Voting	13
Date, Time and Place	13
Matters to be Considered	13
Stockholders Entitled to Vote	13
Quorum and Required Vote	13
How Shares Will Be Voted at the Special Meeting	13
How to Vote Your Shares	14
How to Change Your Vote	15
Solicitation of Proxies	15
Recommendation of the Quanex Board of Directors	15
Special Meeting Admission	15
Adjournment and Postponements	16
Appraisal Rights	16
Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements	17
The Spin-Off	17
The Merger	18
<u>General</u>	18
Background of the Merger	18
Quanex s Reasons for the Merger	20
Recommendation of the Quanex Board of Directors	21
Opinion of Lazard Frères & Co. LLC Financial Advisor to Quanex	21
Regulatory Matters	26
Appraisal Rights	27
Delisting and Deregistration of Quanex Common Stock	29
Accounting Treatment	29
Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences	29
Interests of Certain Persons in the Merger	33

# **Table of Contents**

		Pag
The Merger	Agreement	36
Structure of		36
Timing of C		36
Merger Cons	<del></del>	37
	Quanex Stock Options and Restricted Stock Units	37
	ad Payment Procedures	37
	f Incorporation and Bylaws	38
Directors and	*	38
	ons and Warranties	38
•	Business Pending the Merger	40
	tion Provisions and Acquisition Proposals	41
	ommitments; Cooperation of Quanex	43
Employee B	*	44
	nd Officers Indemnification and Insurance	44
	onsummate the Merger	45
Additional C	<del></del>	45
Conditions to	o the Merger	45
Termination		46
Fees and Exp	<u>penses</u>	46
Modification	n, Amendment and Waiver	47
	e and Dividend Data	48
Security Ow	nership of Management and Certain Beneficial Owners	49
Stockholder	•	50
Where You	Can Find More Information	50
	ANNEXES	
Annex A	Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated November 18, 2007, among Quanex Corporation, Gero S.A. and Gerdau Delaware, Inc.	lau
Annex B	Opinion of Lazard Frères & Co. LLC dated November 18, 2007	
Annex C	Section 262 of the Delaware General Corporation Law	
	ii	

#### **SUMMARY**

This summary highlights selected information from this proxy statement, including material terms of the merger, and may not contain all of the information that is important to you. To understand the merger fully and for a more complete description of the legal terms of the merger, you should carefully read this entire document, including its annexes, and the documents to which we refer you. See Where You Can Find More Information beginning on page 48 of this proxy statement.

# **Frequently Used Terms**

We have generally avoided the use of technical defined terms in this proxy statement but a few frequently used terms may be helpful for you to have in mind at the outset. We refer to:

Quanex Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries other than the Building Products Group of Quanex Corporation, except where the context otherwise requires or as otherwise indicated, as Quanex or the Company;

```
Gerdau S.A., as Gerdau:
```

Gerdau Delaware, Inc., as Gerdau Delaware;

the proposed merger of Gerdau Delaware into Quanex, as the merger;

the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of November 18, 2007, by and among Quanex, Gerdau and Gerdau Delaware, as the merger agreement;

the engineered products segment and the aluminum sheet segment of Quanex prior to the spin-off, as the Building Products Group;

the vehicular products segment of Quanex prior to the spin-off, as the Vehicular Products Group;

the entity that will operate the Building Products Group of Quanex after the spin-off, as Quanex Building Products:

the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware as the DGCL;

the New York Stock Exchange, as the NYSE; and

the United States Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, as the Hart-Scott-Rodino Act.

When share of Quanex Building Products common stock is used in this proxy statement, we refer to the share of Quanex Building Products Corporation common stock that you will receive following:

the distribution in the spin-off of a unit of Quanex Building Products LLC for each share of Quanex common stock outstanding, and

the conversion of each unit into a share of Quanex Building Products Corporation common stock pursuant to the subsequent merger of Quanex Building Products LLC into Quanex Building Products Corporation.

See The Spin-Off.

**The Merger Parties** 

Quanex

Quanex Corporation 1900 West Loop South Suite 1500 Houston, Texas 77027 (713) 961-4600

1

#### **Table of Contents**

Quanex Corporation is an industry-leading manufacturer of value-added, engineered materials and components serving the vehicular products and building products markets. Prior to the merger, Quanex intends to spin-off its Building Products Group as a separate company to its stockholders.

#### Gerdau and Gerdau Delaware

Gerdau S.A. Av. Dos Farrapos, 1811 Porto Alegre, RS 90220-005 Brazil

The Gerdau Group is the largest long steel bar producer in the Americas, and the fourteenth largest steelmaker in the world. It has over 35,000 employees and operates in 13 countries: Argentina, Brazil, Canada, Chile, Colombia, the Dominican Republic, India, Mexico, Peru, Spain, the United States, Uruguay and Venezuela. It has an annual steel production capacity of 23.2 million metric tons and is one of the largest recyclers in the Americas. Gerdau Delaware is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Gerdau and was formed by Gerdau to participate in the merger.

# The Merger (page 18)

#### General

On November 18, 2007, the companies agreed to the merger between Quanex and Gerdau Delaware under the terms of the merger agreement described in this proxy statement and attached hereto as *Annex A*. The merger agreement is the legal document that governs the merger, and we urge you to read that agreement.

At the effective time of the merger, Gerdau Delaware will merge with and into Quanex. Quanex will be the surviving company and will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of Gerdau. The separate corporate existence of Gerdau Delaware will cease at the effective time of the merger.

#### Merger Consideration

At the effective time of the merger, each outstanding share of Quanex (other than any shares owned directly or indirectly by Quanex or Gerdau and those shares held by dissenting stockholders) will be converted into the right to receive \$39.20 in cash, without interest.

In connection with the merger, Quanex stockholders will receive, pursuant to the spin-off of Quanex s Building Products Group, one share of Quanex Building Products common stock for each share of Quanex common stock they own on the closing date of the merger.

### Treatment of Quanex Stock Options and Restricted Stock Units

At the effective time of the merger, Quanex stock options will become vested and exercisable and will be cancelled. The holder of such Quanex stock options will be entitled to receive an amount in cash equal to: (x) the total number of shares of Quanex common stock subject to the stock option times (y) the excess of (i) the sum of (A) \$39.20 and (B) the closing sales price of a share of Quanex Building Products common stock on the NYSE on the distribution date for the spin-off of Quanex s Building Products Group over (ii) the exercise price per share under the stock option, less any applicable tax withholding.

Each restricted stock unit that has been issued but has not vested prior to the effective time of the merger will become fully vested at the effective time of the merger and will be converted into the right to receive an amount per restricted stock unit equal to the sum of (a) \$39.20 and (b) the closing sales price of a share of Quanex Building Products common stock on the NYSE on the distribution date for the spin-off of Quanex s Building Products Group.

See Interests of Certain Persons in the Merger beginning on page 33 for a discussion of the treatment of restricted stock pursuant to the terms of the spin-off.

2

# The Spin-Off

Immediately prior to and in connection with the merger, Quanex will spin-off to its stockholders the limited liability company interests of its building products subsidiary containing all of the assets and liabilities of Quanex s Building Products Group known as Quanex Building Products LLC. The interests will be distributed to Quanex s stockholders on the basis of one unit of Quanex Building Products LLC for each share of Quanex common stock outstanding. Immediately following the spin-off, Quanex Building Products LLC will merge with and into its wholly-owned subsidiary Quanex Building Products Corporation, with Quanex Building Products Corporation being the surviving company in the merger. Each unit of Quanex Building Products LLC will be converted immediately into one share of Quanex Building Products Corporation common stock. As a result, a Quanex stockholder will receive one share of Quanex Building Products Corporation common stock for each share of Quanex common stock held by such stockholder.

Quanex stockholder approval is not needed for, and you are not being asked for a proxy in relation to, the proposed spin-off of the Building Products Group of Quanex or the subsequent merger of Quanex Building Products LLC with and into Quanex Building Products Corporation. Holders of Quanex common stock on the record date of the spin-off, which will be the same date as the closing date of the merger, will receive an information statement describing their ownership of Quanex Building Products Corporation.

#### **Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences (page 29)**

For U.S. federal income tax purposes, we will treat and report the spin-off and the merger as a single integrated transaction with respect to the Quanex stockholders in which the spin-off will be treated as a redemption of shares of Quanex common stock that qualifies for exchange treatment. Accordingly, with respect to each Quanex stockholder who is a citizen or resident of the United States and holds his shares of Quanex common stock as a capital asset (generally, assets held for investment), we expect that such a Quanex stockholder will generally recognize capital gain or loss for U.S. federal income tax purposes in an amount equal to the difference between (i) the sum of the amount of cash received in the merger and the fair market value, determined when the spin-off occurs, of the property received in the spin-off, and (ii) such Quanex stockholder s adjusted tax basis in his shares of Quanex common stock immediately prior to the spin-off. The deduction of any recognized loss may be delayed or otherwise adversely affected by certain loss limitation rules. Any such gain or loss will generally be long-term capital gain or loss if the Quanex stockholder s holding period in the shares of Quanex common stock immediately prior to the spin-off is more than one year. The amount and character of gain or loss must be calculated separately for each identifiable block of shares of Quanex common stock surrendered.

See Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences beginning on page 29 for a detailed discussion of the U.S. federal income tax treatment of the spin-off and merger, including a discussion of possible alternative treatments.

Tax matters are very complicated and the tax consequences of the merger to any particular Quanex stockholder will depend on that stockholder s particular situation. Quanex stockholders should consult with their own tax advisors to determine the specific tax consequences of the merger to them.

#### **Recommendation of the Quanex Board of Directors (page 21)**

The Quanex Board of Directors has unanimously determined that the merger is advisable and in your best interests and unanimously recommends that you vote FOR approval and adoption of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby and any adjournment or postponement of the special meeting.

# Opinion of Lazard Frères & Co. LLC Financial Advisor to Quanex (page 21)

In connection with the proposed merger, Quanex s financial advisor, Lazard Frères & Co. LLC, delivered to Quanex s Board of Directors a written opinion, dated November 18, 2007, as to the fairness, from a financial point of view, to the holders of Quanex common stock of the merger consideration. The full text of Lazard s written opinion is attached to this proxy statement as *Annex B*. We encourage you to read that opinion carefully in its entirety for a description of the procedures followed, assumptions made, matters

3

#### **Table of Contents**

considered, and limitations on the review undertaken by Lazard in rendering its opinion. Lazard s opinion was provided for the use and benefit of Quanex s Board of Directors in connection with its evaluation of the merger and does not address the merits of the proposed merger or constitute a recommendation to any stockholder as to how he or she should vote on the merger or any matter relevant to the merger agreement. The opinion addresses only the fairness, from a financial point of view, as of the date of the opinion, of the merger consideration to be paid to holders of shares of Quanex common stock (other than holders of dissenters—shares and shares of Quanex common stock owned directly by Quanex as treasury stock or by Gerdau or Gerdau Delaware, and in each case not held on behalf of third parties).

# **Interests of Quanex Directors and Executive Officers in the Merger (page 33)**

When you consider the recommendation of Quanex s Board of Directors that you vote for the approval and adoption of the merger agreement, you should be aware that certain of our directors and executive officers may have interests in the merger that are different from, or in addition to, yours. The Quanex Board of Directors was aware of these interests and considered them, among other matters, in unanimously approving and adopting the merger agreement and unanimously recommending that Quanex stockholders vote to approve and adopt the merger agreement. At the close of business on the record date for the Quanex special meeting, directors and executive officers of Quanex and their affiliates will be entitled to vote approximately % of the shares of Quanex common stock outstanding on that date.

#### **Conditions to Completion of the Merger (page 44)**

Completion of the merger depends on a number of conditions being satisfied or waived. These conditions include the following:

the approval of Quanex s stockholders will have been obtained;

the waiting period applicable to the consummation of the merger under applicable antitrust laws will have expired or have terminated and any other approvals from governmental entities will have been obtained;

there is no judgment, injunction or other order in effect that restrains, enjoins or otherwise prohibits consummation of the merger or the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement;

the representations and warranties of the parties contained in the merger agreement will be true and correct as of the date of the merger agreement and as of the effective time of the merger in the manner described under the caption The Merger Agreement Conditions to Completion of the Merger;

the parties will have performed in all material respects their respective obligations under the merger agreement at or prior to the closing date; and

with respect to the obligations of Gerdau and Gerdau Delaware only, the spin-off will have been effected by Quanex.

#### Regulatory Matters (page 26)

Under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Act, the parties cannot complete the merger until they have notified and furnished information to the Federal Trade Commission (FTC) and the Antitrust Division of the United States Department of Justice (DOJ), and specified waiting periods expire or are terminated. On November 30, 2007, Quanex and Gerdau submitted the notification filings to the FTC and the DOJ. The waiting period under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Act will

expire on December 31, 2007, unless each party receives early termination of the waiting period before that time or unless the reviewing agency extends the period by requesting additional information.

A party or parties to a transaction may, but are not required to, submit to the Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States, which we refer to as CFIUS, in accordance with the regulations implementing Section 721 of the Defense Production Act of 1950, as amended, a voluntary notice of the transaction. Section 721 empowers the President of the United States to prohibit or suspend an acquisition of, or

4

#### **Table of Contents**

investment in, a U.S. company by a foreign person if the President of the United States, after investigation, finds credible evidence that the foreign person might take action that threatens to impair the national security of the United States and that other provisions of existing law, other than the International Emergency Economic Powers Act, do not provide adequate and appropriate authority to protect the national security. CFIUS has the authority to receive notices of proposed transactions, determine when an investigation is warranted, conduct investigations and submit recommendations to the President of the United States to suspend or prohibit the completion of transactions or to require divestitures of completed transactions.

On , 200, the parties submitted a notice of the transaction to CFIUS. CFIUS has 30 calendar days from the date of submission to decide whether to initiate an investigation. If CFIUS declines to investigate, it sends a letter advising the parties that CFIUS has determined not to conduct an investigation and that CFIUS has concluded its review of the transaction, and the review process is complete. If CFIUS decides to investigate, it has 45 calendar days in which to prepare a recommendation to the President of the United States, who must then decide within 15 calendar days whether to block the transaction or, in the case of a completed transaction, seek a divestiture.

Although Quanex and Gerdau do not believe an investigation of, or recommendation to block, the merger by CFIUS is warranted under the standards of Section 721, CFIUS and the President of the United States have considerable discretion to conduct investigations and block transactions under Section 721.

#### **Termination of the Merger Agreement (page 46)**

Before the effective time of the merger, the merger agreement may be terminated by either party under certain circumstances specified in the merger agreement, including after a termination date of April 30, 2008, due to the breach by the other party of any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements in the merger agreement, under certain circumstances if the approval of Quanex s stockholders is not obtained or if Quanex receives and accepts a superior proposal to the merger.

#### **Non-Solicitation Provisions and Acquisition Proposals (page 41)**

Subject to certain conditions, until the effective time of the merger, Quanex is not permitted to solicit or seek acquisition proposals, engage in any substantive discussions regarding such proposals, provide any information to third parties regarding such proposals, enter into any agreement relating to any such proposals or release any third party from, or waive any provision of, any confidentiality or standstill agreement relating to any such proposals. However, under certain circumstances, if Quanex receives an unsolicited takeover proposal from a third party that Quanex s Board of Directors determines in good faith (after consultation with outside counsel and financial advisors) constitutes a superior proposal or would reasonably be expected to lead to a superior proposal, Quanex may furnish nonpublic information to that third party and engage in negotiations regarding a takeover proposal with that third party, subject to specified conditions set forth in the merger agreement.

#### Fees and Expenses (page 46)

If Quanex terminates the merger agreement, Quanex must pay to Gerdau, in certain circumstances set forth in the merger agreement, \$50,190,000. Gerdau must pay Quanex a termination fee of \$60 million if the merger agreement is terminated in certain circumstances set forth in the merger agreement following a second request made by the FTC or the DOJ under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Act.

Whether or not the merger is consummated, each of Gerdau, Gerdau Delaware and Quanex will bear its own fees and expenses in connection with the merger agreement.

# **Appraisal Rights (page 27)**

Under Delaware law, you are entitled to appraisal rights in connection with the merger. As a result, you will have the right under Delaware law to have the fair value of your Quanex common stock determined by

5

#### **Table of Contents**

the Delaware Chancery Court. This right to appraisal is subject to a number of restrictions and procedural requirements. Generally, in order to exercise your appraisal rights, you must:

Send a written demand to Quanex for appraisal in compliance with the DGCL before the vote on the adoption of the merger agreement;

Not vote in favor of the adoption of the merger agreement; and

Continuously hold your Quanex common stock from the date you make the demand for appraisal through the effective date of the merger.

Merely voting against the adoption of the merger agreement will not protect your rights to an appraisal, which requires you to take all the steps provided under Delaware law. Delaware law requirements for exercising appraisal rights are described in further detail in this proxy statement. In addition, Section 262 of the DGCL, which is the section of Delaware law regarding appraisal rights, is set forth in *Annex C* to this proxy statement.

#### **Market Price of Our Common Stock (page 46)**

Our shares of common stock are traded on the NYSE under the ticker symbol NX. On November 16, 2007, the last trading day prior to the date of the public announcement of the merger agreement, the closing price of our common stock on the NYSE was \$36.74 per share. On January , 2008, the last trading day prior to the date of this proxy statement, the closing price of our common stock on the NYSE was \$ per share. You are encouraged to obtain current market quotations for shares of our common stock.

6

#### **OUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE MERGER AND THE SPECIAL MEETING**

The following questions and answers briefly address some commonly asked questions about the merger and the special meeting. They may not include all of the information that is important to you. We urge you to read carefully this entire proxy statement, including the annexes and the other documents we refer to in this proxy statement.

#### **About the Merger**

# Q1: When and where is the Quanex special stockholder meeting?

A1: The Quanex special stockholder meeting will take place on February , 2008, at :00 a.m., and will be held at the Company s principal executive offices at 1900 West Loop South, 15th Floor, Houston, Texas.

# Q2: What will happen at the special meeting?

A2: At the Quanex special meeting, Quanex stockholders will vote on a proposal to approve and adopt the merger agreement and on a proposal to approve adjournments or postponements of the special meeting, if necessary, to permit further solicitation of proxies if there are not sufficient votes at the time of the special meeting to approve and adopt the merger agreement. We cannot complete the merger unless, among other things, Quanex s stockholders vote to approve and adopt the merger agreement.

#### Q3: What am I voting on?

A3: Quanex is proposing to merge with Gerdau Delaware, with Quanex becoming a wholly-owned subsidiary of Gerdau. Quanex stockholders are being asked to vote to approve and adopt the merger agreement. Quanex is also seeking your approval of a proposal to adjourn or postpone the special meeting, if necessary, to solicit additional proxies in favor of approval and adoption of the merger agreement.

# Q4: What will I receive in exchange for my Quanex shares?

A4: Upon completion of the merger, you will receive \$39.20 in cash, without interest, for each share of Quanex common stock that you own. The merger consideration is not subject to any adjustment.

In connection with the merger, Quanex stockholders will receive, pursuant to the spin-off of Quanex s Building Products Group, one share of Quanex Building Products common stock for each share of Quanex common stock that they own on the record date of the spin-off, which will be the same date as the closing date of the merger.

# Q5: What will I receive in exchange for my options to purchase Quanex common stock and my restricted stock units?

A5: At the effective time of the merger, Quanex stock options will become vested and exercisable and will be cancelled. If you hold Quanex stock options, you will be entitled to receive an amount in cash equal to: (x) the total number of shares of Quanex common stock subject to the stock option times (y) the excess of (i) the sum of (A) \$39.20 and (B) the closing sales price of a share of Quanex Building Products common stock on the NYSE on the distribution date for the spin-off of Quanex s Building Products Group over (ii) the exercise price per share under the stock option, less any applicable withholding.

Each restricted stock unit that has been issued but has not vested prior to the effective time of the merger will become fully vested at the effective time of the merger. If you hold Quanex restricted stock units, you will have the right to receive an amount per restricted stock unit equal to the sum of (y) \$39.20 and (z) the closing sales price of a share of Quanex Building Products common stock on the NYSE on the distribution date for the spin-off of Quanex s Building Products Group.

7

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **Q6:** What is the required vote to approve and authorize the merger?

A6: Holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Quanex common stock entitled to vote at the special meeting must vote to approve and adopt the merger agreement to complete the merger. Approval of any adjournments of the special meeting to solicit additional proxies requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the outstanding shares of Quanex common stock present in person or by proxy at the special meeting and entitled to vote on the matter.

If a quorum is not present at the special meeting, the special meeting may be adjourned by the vote of a majority of the outstanding shares of Quanex common stock entitled to vote at the special meeting and present in person or by proxy.

Even if the votes set forth above are obtained at the special meeting, we cannot assure you that the merger will be completed, because the completion of the merger is subject to the satisfaction or waiver of other conditions discussed in this proxy statement, including the completion of the spin-off.

# Q7: What happens if I do not vote?

A7: Because the required vote of Quanex stockholders is based upon the number of outstanding shares of Quanex common stock entitled to vote rather than upon the number of shares actually voted, abstentions from voting and broker non-votes will have the same effect as a vote AGAINST approval and adoption of the merger agreement. If you return a properly signed proxy card but do not indicate how you want to vote, your proxy will be counted as a vote FOR approval and adoption of the merger agreement and FOR approval of any proposal to adjourn or postpone the special meeting to solicit additional proxies in favor of approval and adoption of the merger agreement.

#### **Q8:** How does the Quanex Board of Directors recommend I vote?

A8: The Board of Directors of Quanex unanimously recommends that Quanex s stockholders vote FOR approval and adoption of the merger agreement and FOR the approval of any proposal to adjourn or postpone the special meeting to solicit additional proxies in favor of approval and adoption of the merger agreement. The Board of Directors of Quanex believes the merger is advisable and in the best interests of Quanex and its stockholders.

#### Q9: Do I have appraisal rights with respect to the merger?

A9: Yes. Under Delaware law, a Quanex stockholder has the right to dissent from the merger and, in lieu of receiving the merger consideration, obtain payment in cash of the fair value of his or her shares of Quanex common stock as determined by the Delaware Chancery Court. To exercise appraisal rights, a Quanex stockholder must strictly follow the procedures prescribed by Section 262 of the DGCL. See The Merger Appraisal Rights beginning on page 27 of this proxy statement. In addition, the full text of the applicable provisions of Delaware law is included as *Annex C* to this proxy statement.

#### Q10: When do you expect the merger to be completed?

A10: We are working on completing the merger as quickly as possible. To complete the merger, we must obtain the approval of the Quanex stockholders and satisfy or waive all other closing conditions under the merger agreement, which we currently expect should occur in the first calendar quarter of 2008. However, we cannot assure you when or if the merger will occur. See The Merger Agreement Conditions to the Merger beginning

on page 44 of this proxy statement. If the merger occurs, we will promptly make a public announcement of that fact.

# Q11: What will happen to my Quanex shares after completion of the merger?

A11: Upon completion of the merger, your shares of Quanex common stock will be canceled and will represent only the right to receive \$39.20 per share as the merger consideration (or the fair value of your Quanex common stock if you seek appraisal rights) and any declared but unpaid dividends that you may be owed. In addition, trading in shares of Quanex common stock on the NYSE will cease and price quotations for shares of Quanex common stock will no longer be available.

8

#### **Table of Contents**

In connection with the spin-off of Quanex s Building Products Group, Quanex stockholders will also receive one share of Quanex Building Products common stock for each share of Quanex common stock that they own on the record date of the spin-off, which will be the same date as the closing date of the merger.

# Q12: How does the merger consideration compare to the market price of the shares of Quanex common stock?

A12: The merger consideration is \$39.20 per share of Quanex common stock, without interest. On November 16, 2007, the last trading day prior to the date of the public announcement of the merger agreement, the closing price of our common stock on the NYSE was \$36.74 per share. On January , 2008, the last trading day prior to the date of this proxy statement, the closing price of our common stock on the NYSE was \$per share. In making this comparison, you should keep in mind that, as a result of the spin-off, you will also receive one share of Quanex Building Products common stock for each share of Quanex common stock that you hold on the record date for the spin-off, which will be the same date as the closing date of the merger.

#### Q13: What happens if the merger is not completed?

A13: Quanex will consider its options with respect to alternative transactions for the Building Products Group and the Vehicular Products Group and may still proceed with the spin-off of the Building Products Group.

#### **About the Spin-Off**

#### Q14: What is the spin-off transaction being contemplated by Quanex?

A14: Immediately prior to and in connection with the merger, Quanex will spin-off to its stockholders the limited liability company interests of its building products subsidiary containing all of the assets and liabilities of Quanex s Building Products Group known as Quanex Building Products LLC. The interests will be distributed to Quanex s stockholders on the basis of one unit of Quanex Building Products LLC for each share of Quanex common stock outstanding. Immediately following the spin-off, Quanex Building Products LLC will merge with and into its wholly-owned subsidiary Quanex Building Products Corporation, with Quanex Building Products Corporation being the surviving company in the merger. Each unit of Quanex Building Products LLC will be converted immediately into one share of Quanex Building Products Corporation common stock. As a result, a Quanex stockholder will receive one share of Quanex Building Products Corporation common stock for each share of Quanex common stock held by such stockholder.

Quanex stockholder approval is not needed for, and you are not being asked for a proxy in relation to, the proposed spin-off of the Building Products Group of Quanex or the subsequent merger of Quanex Building Products LLC with and into Quanex Building Products Corporation. Holders of Quanex common stock on the record date of the spin-off, which will be the same date as the closing date of the merger, will receive an information statement describing their ownership of Quanex Building Products Corporation.

#### **About Voting at the Special Meeting**

## Q15: Who is entitled to vote at the special meeting?

A15: Holders of record of Quanex common stock at the close of business on January , 2008, which is the date Quanex s Board of Directors has fixed as the record date for the special meeting, are entitled to receive notice of and vote at the special meeting.

# Q16: What is a quorum?

A16: A quorum is the number of shares that must be present to hold the meeting. The quorum requirement for the Quanex special meeting is the holders of a majority of the issued and outstanding shares of Quanex common stock as of the record date, present in person or represented by proxy and entitled to vote

9

#### **Table of Contents**

at the special meeting. A proxy submitted by a stockholder may indicate that all or a portion of the shares represented by the proxy are not being voted with respect to a particular matter. Proxies that are marked abstain or for which votes have otherwise been withheld and proxies relating to street name shares that are returned to Quanex but not voted will be treated as shares present for purposes of determining the presence of a quorum on all matters.

#### Q17: How many shares can vote?

A17: On the record date, Quanex had outstanding shares of common stock, which constitute Quanex s only outstanding voting securities. Each Quanex stockholder is entitled to one vote on each proposal for each share of Quanex common stock held as of the record date.

#### Q18: What do I need to do now?

A18: After carefully reading and considering the information contained and referred to in this proxy statement, including its annexes, please authorize your shares of Quanex common stock to be voted by returning your completed, dated, and signed proxy card in the enclosed return envelope, or vote by telephone or Internet, as soon as possible. To be sure that your vote is counted, please submit your proxy as instructed on your proxy card even if you plan to attend the special meeting in person. DO NOT enclose or return your stock certificates with your proxy card. If you hold shares registered in the name of a broker, bank, or other nominee, that broker, bank, or other nominee has enclosed or will provide a voting instruction card for use in directing your broker, bank, or other nominee how to vote the shares.

#### Q19: May I vote in person?

A19: Yes. You may attend the special meeting of Quanex s stockholders and vote your shares in person rather than by signing and returning your proxy card. If you wish to vote in person and your shares are held by a broker, bank, or other nominee, you need to obtain a proxy from the broker, bank, or nominee authorizing you to vote your shares held in the broker s, bank s, or nominee s name

#### Q20: If my shares are held in street name, will my broker, bank, or other nominee vote my shares for me?

A20: Yes, but your broker, bank, or other nominee may vote your shares of Quanex common stock only if you instruct your broker, bank, or other nominee how to vote. If you do not provide your broker, bank, or other nominee with instructions on how to vote your street name shares, your broker, bank, or other nominee will not be permitted to vote them on the merger. You should follow the directions your broker, bank, or other nominee provides to ensure your shares are voted at the special meeting. Please check the voting form used by your broker, bank, or other nominee to see if it offers telephone or Internet voting.

# Q21: May I change my vote?

A21: Yes. You may change your vote at any time before your proxy is voted at the special meeting. If your Quanex common stock is registered in your own name, you can do this in one of three ways.

First, you can deliver to Quanex, prior to the special meeting, a written notice stating that you want to revoke your proxy. The notice should be sent to the attention of Kevin P. Delaney, Secretary, Quanex Corporation, 1900 West Loop South, Suite 1500, Houston, Texas 77027, to arrive by the close of business on February , 2008.

Second, prior to the special meeting, you can complete and deliver a new proxy card. The proxy card should be sent to the addressee indicated on the pre-addressed envelope enclosed with your initial proxy card to arrive by the close of business on February , 2008. The latest dated and signed proxy actually received by this addressee before the special meeting will be counted, and any earlier proxies will be considered revoked. If you vote electronically through the Internet or by telephone, you can change your vote by submitting a different vote through the Internet or by telephone, in which case your later-submitted proxy will be recorded and your earlier proxy revoked.

10

#### **Table of Contents**

Third, you can attend the Quanex special meeting and vote in person. Any earlier proxy will thereby be revoked automatically. Simply attending the special meeting, however, will not revoke your proxy, as you must vote at the special meeting to revoke a prior proxy.

If you have instructed a broker, bank or nominee to vote your shares, you must follow directions you receive from your broker to change or revoke your vote.

If you are a street-name stockholder and you vote by proxy, you may later revoke your proxy instructions by informing the holder of record in accordance with that entity s procedures.

#### Q22: How will the proxies vote on any other business brought up at the special meetings?

A22: By submitting your proxy, you authorize the persons named on the proxy card to use their judgment to determine how to vote on any other matter properly brought before the special meeting. The proxies will vote your shares in accordance with your instructions. If you sign, date, and return your proxy without giving specific voting instructions, the proxies will vote your shares FOR the proposal. If you do not return your proxy, or if your shares are held in street name and you do not instruct your bank, broker or nominee on how to vote, your shares will not be voted at the special meeting.

The Quanex Board of Directors does not intend to bring any other business before the meeting, and it is not aware that anyone else intends to do so. If any other business properly comes before the meeting, it is the intention of the persons named on the proxy cards to vote as proxies in accordance with their best judgment.

#### **O23:** What is a broker non-vote?

A23: A broker non-vote occurs when a bank, broker, or other nominee submits a proxy that indicates that the broker does not vote for some or all of the proposals because the broker has not received instructions from the beneficial owners on how to vote on these proposals and does not have discretionary authority to vote in the absence of instructions.

#### **O24:** Will broker non-votes or abstentions affect the results?

A24: Yes. Broker non-votes or abstentions will have the same effect as a vote against the proposal to adopt the merger agreement, but will have no effect on the outcome of the proposal relating to adjournments or postponements of the special meeting, if necessary, to permit further solicitation of proxies. If your shares are held in street name, we urge you to instruct your bank, broker, or nominee how to vote your shares for those proposals on which you are entitled to vote.

# Q25: What happens if I choose not to submit a proxy or to vote?

A25: If you do not submit a proxy or vote at the Quanex special meeting, it will have the same effect as a vote against the proposal to adopt the merger agreement, but will have no effect on the outcome of the proposal relating to adjournments or postponements of the special meeting, if necessary, to permit further solicitations of proxies.

#### Q26: Why is it important for me to vote?

A26:

We cannot complete the merger without holders of a majority of the outstanding Quanex common stock present in person or by proxy at the special meeting voting in favor of the approval and adoption of the merger agreement.

# Q27: What happens if I sell my shares of Quanex common stock before the special meeting?

A27: The record date for the special meeting is January , 2008, which is earlier than the date of the special meeting. If you hold your shares of Quanex common stock on the record date you will retain your right to vote at the special meeting. If you transfer your shares of Quanex common stock after the record date but prior to the date on which the merger is completed, you will continue to have the right to vote at the special meeting but you will lose the right to receive the merger consideration for shares of Quanex

11

#### **Table of Contents**

common stock. The right to receive the merger consideration will pass to the person who owns your shares of Quanex common stock when the merger is completed.

#### General

- Q28: Should I send in my Quanex stock certificates now?
- A28: No. PLEASE DO NOT SEND ANY STOCK CERTIFICATES WITH YOUR PROXY CARD. After the merger is completed, you will receive written instructions informing you how to send in your stock certificates to receive the merger consideration.
- Q29: What does it mean if I get more than one proxy card?
- A29: Your shares of Quanex common stock are probably registered in more than one account. You should vote each proxy card you receive.
- Q30: Where can I find more information about the special meeting, the merger or Quanex?
- A30: You can find more information about Quanex in its filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission and the NYSE. If you have any questions about the special meeting, the merger or how to submit your proxy, or if you need additional copies of this proxy statement or the enclosed proxy card or voting instructions, you should contact Quanex at the address or phone number below. If your broker holds your shares, you can also call your broker for additional information.

12

Quanex Corporation 1900 West Loop South Suite 1500 Houston, Texas 77027 (713) 961-4600 Attn: Kevin P. Delaney

#### INFORMATION ABOUT THE SPECIAL MEETING AND VOTING

This proxy statement is being furnished to Quanex stockholders by Quanex s Board of Directors in connection with the solicitation of proxies from the holders of Quanex common stock for use at the special meeting of Quanex stockholders and any adjournments or postponements of the special meeting.

#### **Date, Time and Place**

The special meeting of stockholders of Quanex will be held on February , 2008 at :00 a.m., at the Company s principal executive offices at 1900 West Loop South, 15<sup>th</sup> Floor, Houston, Texas.

#### **Matters to Be Considered**

At the special meeting, Quanex stockholders will be asked:

to consider and vote upon a proposal to approve and adopt the merger agreement;

to consider and vote upon a proposal to adjourn or postpone the special meeting, if necessary, to solicit additional proxies in favor of the approval and adoption of the merger agreement; and

to consider and transact any other business as may properly be brought before the special meeting or any adjournments or postponements thereof.

At this time, the Quanex Board of Directors is unaware of any matters, other than those set forth above, that it expects to properly come before the special meeting.

#### Stockholders Entitled to Vote

The close of business on January , 2008 has been fixed by Quanex s Board as the record date for the determination of those holders of Quanex common stock who are entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the special meeting and on any adjournments or postponements thereof. At the close of business on the record date, there were shares of Quanex common stock outstanding and entitled to vote, held by approximately holders of record. A list of the stockholders of record entitled to vote at the special meeting will be available for examination by Quanex stockholders for any purpose germane to the meeting. The list will be available at the meeting and for ten days prior to the meeting during ordinary business hours by contacting Quanex s Secretary at 1900 West Loop South, Suite 1500, Houston, Texas 77027.

#### **Quorum and Required Vote**

Each holder of record of Quanex common stock as of the record date is entitled to cast one vote per share at the special meeting on each proposal. The presence, in person or by proxy, of the holders of a majority of the issued and outstanding shares of Quanex common stock outstanding as of the record date constitutes a quorum for the transaction of business at the special meeting. The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of Quanex common stock entitled to vote at the special meeting is required to approve and adopt the merger agreement.

As of the record date for the special meeting, directors and executive officers of Quanex and their affiliates beneficially owned an aggregate of shares of Quanex common stock entitled to vote at the special meeting. These shares represent approximately % of the Quanex common stock outstanding and entitled to vote as of the record

date.

As of the record date, Gerdau and its directors, executive officers, and their affiliates owned none of the outstanding shares of Quanex common stock.

# How Shares Will Be Voted at the Special Meeting

All shares of Quanex common stock represented by properly executed proxies received before or at the special meeting, and not properly revoked, will be voted as specified in the proxies. Properly executed proxies

13

#### **Table of Contents**

that do not contain voting instructions will be voted FOR approval and adoption of the merger agreement and any adjournment or postponement of the special meeting.

A properly executed proxy marked Abstain with respect to any proposal will be counted as present for purposes of determining whether there is a quorum at the special meeting. However, because the approval and adoption of the merger agreement requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares entitled to vote at the special meeting, an abstention will have the same effect as a vote AGAINST approval and adoption of the merger agreement.

If you hold shares of Quanex common stock in street name through a bank, broker, or other nominee, the bank, broker, or nominee may vote your shares only in accordance with your instructions. If you do not give specific instructions to your bank, broker, or nominee as to how you want your shares voted, your bank, broker, or nominee will indicate that it does not have authority to vote on the proposal, which will result in what is called a broker non-vote. Broker non-votes will be counted for purposes of determining whether there is a quorum present at the special meeting, but because approval and adoption of the merger agreement requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares entitled to vote at the special meeting, broker non-votes will have the same effect as a vote AGAINST approval and adoption of the merger agreement.

If any other matters are properly brought before the special meeting, the proxies named in the proxy card will vote the shares represented by duly executed proxies in their sole discretion.

#### **How to Vote Your Shares**

Record holders may cause their shares of Quanex common stock to be voted using one of the following methods:

mark, sign, date and return the enclosed proxy card by mail;

submit your proxy or voting instructions by telephone or Internet by following the instructions included with your proxy card; or

appear and vote in person by ballot at the special meeting.

Regardless of whether you plan to attend the special meeting, we request that you complete and return a proxy for your shares of Quanex common stock as described above as promptly as possible. You can always change your vote at the special meeting. If you properly submit your proxy card or your voting instructions as described above, one of the individuals named as your proxy will vote your shares of Quanex common stock as you have directed. You may vote for or against the proposals submitted at the special meeting or you may abstain from voting.

If you hold shares of Quanex common stock through a broker, bank, or other nominee, please follow the voting instructions provided by that firm. If you do not return your proxy card, or if your shares are held in a stock brokerage account or held by a bank, broker, or other nominee, or, in other words, in street name and you do not instruct your bank, broker, or other nominee on how to vote those shares, those shares will not be voted at the special meeting.

A number of banks and brokerage firms participate in a program that also permits stockholders whose shares are held in street name to direct their vote by the Internet or telephone. This option, if available, will be reflected in the voting instructions from the bank or brokerage firm that accompany this proxy statement. If your shares are held in an account at a bank or brokerage firm that participates in such a program, you may direct the vote of these shares by the Internet or telephone by following the voting instructions enclosed with the proxy from the bank or brokerage firm. The Internet and telephone proxy procedures are designed to authenticate stockholders identities, to allow

stockholders to give their proxy voting instructions and to confirm that those instructions have been properly recorded. Votes directed by the Internet or telephone through such a program must be received by 11:59 p.m., New York, New York time, on February , 2008. Requesting a proxy prior to the deadline described above will automatically cancel any voting directions you have previously given by the Internet or telephone with respect to your shares. Directing the voting of your

14

#### **Table of Contents**

shares will not affect your right to vote in person if you decide to attend the meeting; however, you must first obtain a signed and properly executed proxy from your bank, broker, or other nominee to vote your shares held in street name at the special meeting.

If you submit your proxy but do not make specific choices, your proxy will be voted FOR each of the proposals presented.

## **How to Change Your Vote**

If you are a registered stockholder, you may revoke your proxy at any time before the shares are voted at the special meeting by:

completing, signing, and timely submitting a new proxy to the addressee indicated on the pre-addressed envelope enclosed with your initial proxy card by the close of business on February , 2008; the latest dated and signed proxy actually received by such addressee before the special meeting will be counted, and any earlier proxies will be considered revoked;

notifying Quanex s Secretary at 1900 West Loop South, Suite 1500, Houston, Texas 77027, Attn: Kevin P. Delaney, in writing, by the close of business on February , 2008, that you have revoked your earlier proxy; or

voting in person at the special meeting.

Merely attending the special meeting will not revoke any prior votes or proxies; you must vote at the special meeting to revoke a prior proxy.

If you hold shares of Quanex common stock through a bank, broker or other nominee and you vote by proxy, you may later revoke your proxy instructions by informing the holder of record in accordance with that firm s procedures.

#### Solicitation of Proxies

In addition to solicitation by mail, directors, officers, and employees of Quanex may solicit proxies for the special meeting from Quanex stockholders personally or by telephone, facsimile, and other electronic means without compensation other than reimbursement for their actual expenses.

Arrangements will be made with brokerage firms and other custodians, nominees, and fiduciaries for the forwarding of solicitation material to the beneficial owners of Quanex common stock held of record by those persons, and Quanex will, if requested, reimburse the record holders for their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses in so doing.

Quanex has engaged D.F. King & Co., Inc. to assist in the solicitation of proxies and provide related advice and informational support for a services fee and the reimbursement of customary disbursements that are not expected to exceed \$12,000 in the aggregate.

## **Recommendation of the Quanex Board of Directors**

The Quanex Board of Directors has unanimously approved the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, including the merger. The Quanex Board of Directors determined that the merger is advisable and in the best interests of Quanex and its stockholders and unanimously recommends that you vote FOR approval and adoption of the merger agreement. See The Merger Quanex s Reasons for the Merger beginning on page 20 and The Merger Recommendation of the Quanex Board of Directors beginning on page 21 for a more

detailed discussion of the recommendation of the Quanex Board of Directors.

# **Special Meeting Admission**

If you wish to attend the special meeting in person, you must present a form of personal identification and proof of ownership. If you are a beneficial owner of shares of Quanex common stock that is held by a

15

#### **Table of Contents**

bank, broker, or other nominee, you will need proof of such beneficial ownership of such shares to be admitted to the meeting. A recent brokerage statement or a letter from your bank or broker are examples of proof of ownership.

No cameras, recording equipment, electronic devices, large bags, briefcases, or packages will be permitted in the meeting.

PLEASE DO NOT SEND IN ANY QUANEX COMMON STOCK CERTIFICATES WITH YOUR PROXY CARD. After the merger is completed, you will receive written instructions from the exchange agent informing you how to surrender your stock certificates to receive the merger consideration.

### **Adjournment and Postponements**

The special meeting may be adjourned from time to time, to reconvene at the same or some other place, by approval of the holders of shares of Quanex common stock representing a majority of the votes present in person or by proxy at the special meeting, whether or not a quorum exists, without further notice other than by an announcement made at the special meeting, so long as the new time and place for the special meeting are announced at that time. If the adjournment is for more than thirty days, or if after the adjournment a new record date is determined for the adjourned special meeting, a notice of the adjourned special meeting must be given to each stockholder of record entitled to vote at the special meeting. If a quorum is not present at the Quanex special meeting, holders of shares of Quanex common stock may be asked to vote on a proposal to adjourn or postpone the Quanex special meeting to solicit additional proxies. If a quorum is not present at the Quanex special meeting, the holders of a majority of the shares entitled to vote who are present in person or by proxy may adjourn the meeting. If a quorum is present at the Quanex special meeting but there are not sufficient votes at the time of the special meeting to approve the other proposal(s), holders of shares of Quanex common stock may also be asked to vote on a proposal to approve the adjournment or postponement of the special meeting to permit further solicitation of proxies.

### **Appraisal Rights**

Under Delaware law, if you do not vote in favor of adopting the merger agreement, you will have the right to have the fair value of your shares of our common stock determined by the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware and to receive payment based on that valuation in lieu of receiving the merger consideration, but only if you comply with all requirements of Delaware law, which are summarized in this proxy statement. The ultimate amount that you receive as a dissenting stockholder in an appraisal proceeding may be more than, less than, or the same as, the \$39.20 per share you would have received under the merger agreement. If you intend to exercise appraisal rights, among other things, you must:

send a written demand to us for appraisal in compliance with Delaware law before the vote on adopting the merger agreement at the special meeting;

not vote for the proposal to adopt the merger agreement; and

continuously hold your shares of our common stock from the date you make the demand for appraisal through the effective date of the merger.

If you vote for the proposal to adopt the merger agreement, you will waive your rights to seek appraisal of your shares of our common stock under Delaware law. Also, merely voting against or abstaining with respect to the proposal to adopt the merger agreement will not protect your rights to an appraisal. Failure to follow exactly the procedures specified under Delaware law will result in the loss of your appraisal rights. Delaware law requirements for exercising appraisal rights are described in further detail in Appraisal Rights beginning on page 27 and the relevant section of

Delaware law regarding appraisal rights is reproduced and attached as *Annex C* to this proxy statement.

16

### CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain of the statements contained in this proxy statement are forward-looking statements as defined under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Generally, the words expect, believe, intend, estimate, anticipate project, will and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements, which generally are not historical in nature. All statements which address future operating performance, events or developments that we expect or anticipate will occur in the future, including statements relating to volume, sales, operating income and earnings per share, and statements expressing a general outlook about future operating results, are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from Quanex s historical experience and our present projections or expectations. As and when made, management believes that these forward-looking statements are reasonable. However, caution should be taken not to place undue reliance on any such forward-looking statements since such statements speak only as of the date when made and there can be no assurance that such forward-looking statements will occur. Quanex undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

Factors exist that could cause Quanex s actual results to differ materially from the expected results described in or underlying Quanex s forward-looking statements. Such factors include domestic and international economic activity, prevailing prices of steel and aluminum scrap and other raw material costs, the rate of change in prices for steel and aluminum scrap, energy costs, interest rates, construction delays, market conditions, particularly in the vehicular, home building and remodeling markets, any material changes in purchases by Quanex s principal customers, labor supply and relations, environmental regulations, changes in estimates of costs for known environmental remediation projects and situations, world-wide political stability and economic growth, Quanex s successful implementation of its internal operating plans, acquisition strategies and integration, performance issues with key customers, suppliers and subcontractors, and regulatory changes and legal proceedings. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the forward-looking statements contained herein will occur or that objectives will be achieved. All written and verbal forward-looking statements attributable to Quanex or persons acting on its behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by such factors.

## THE SPIN-OFF

Immediately prior to and in connection with the merger, Quanex will spin-off to its stockholders the limited liability company interests of its building products subsidiary containing all of the assets and liabilities of Quanex s Building Products Group known as Quanex Building Products LLC. The interests will be distributed to Quanex s stockholders on the basis of one unit of Quanex Building Products LLC for each share of Quanex common stock outstanding. Immediately following the spin-off, Quanex Building Products LLC will merge with and into its wholly-owned subsidiary Quanex Building Products Corporation, with Quanex Building Products Corporation being the surviving company in the merger. Each unit of Quanex Building Products LLC will be converted immediately into one share of Quanex Building Products Corporation common stock. As a result, a Quanex stockholder will receive one share of Quanex Building Products Corporation common stock for each share of Quanex common stock held by such stockholder.

Quanex stockholder approval is not needed for, and you are not being asked for a proxy in relation to, the proposed spin-off of the Building Products Group of Quanex or the subsequent merger of Quanex Building Products LLC with and into Quanex Building Products Corporation. Holders of Quanex common stock on the record date of the spin-off, which will be the same date as the closing date of the merger, will receive an information statement describing their ownership of Quanex Building Products Corporation.

#### THE MERGER

#### General

Quanex s Board of Directors is using this document to solicit proxies from the holders of Quanex common stock for use at the Quanex special meeting, at which holders of Quanex common stock will be asked to vote upon approval and adoption of the merger agreement.

The Board of Directors of Quanex has unanimously approved the merger agreement providing for the merger of Gerdau Delaware with and into Quanex. Upon the completion of the merger, the separate corporate existence of Gerdau Delaware will terminate and Quanex will be a wholly-owned subsidiary of Gerdau. Subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions to closing of the merger, including the completion of the spin-off, we expect to complete the merger in the first calendar quarter of 2008.

## **Background of the Merger**

Since early 2006 the management and Board of Directors of Quanex had been debating and exploring the merits of alternative strategies involving the separation of its Building Products Group from its Vehicular Products Group. Ultimately, management and the Board of Directors determined that each Group would be better positioned to grow separate from each other and would receive a better valuation in the marketplace and, as a result, would deliver enhanced value to stockholders.

In July 2006, Quanex began active discussions with its financial and legal advisors regarding a potential tax free spin-off of the Building Products Group as an initial step towards delivering value to stockholders, given Quanex s relatively low market valuation compared to other public companies active in the building products sector. At a meeting of the Quanex Board of Directors held in October 2006, Lazard presented several scenarios to the Board for realizing the potential values of the Building Products Group and the Vehicular Products Group as two separate companies. A reverse Morris trust transaction was introduced as an alternative method to achieve a tax free separation of the two Groups.

In October 2006, a potential candidate was identified for a reverse Morris trust transaction involving Quanex s Building Products Group given the company s size and business composition. From October 2006 through February 2007, Quanex and management of this company exchanged high-level business and financial information and held numerous discussions regarding the potential merits of a reverse Morris trust transaction. At a Quanex Board of Directors meeting held in February 2007, this transaction was presented to the Board and a special committee of the Board was formed to monitor the progress of the potential transaction. During March 2007 and April 2007, the two companies conducted formal due diligence, including numerous site visits, management presentations and the negotiation of merger terms. Quanex and this company, however, were unable to reach agreement on certain key issues and negotiations were ultimately terminated.

On May 4, 2007, Quanex s Board of Directors met with Lazard to review Quanex s strategic alternatives. At that meeting, it was concluded that the value of the Vehicular Products Group would be enhanced under an alternative growth strategy that might be best achieved through a strategic combination with a larger, more diversified steel company. Given that such a strategy was unlikely to include a combination of the Vehicular Products Group and the Building Products Group, the Board of Directors approved senior management s formally exploring separation alternatives for the Building Products Group, including the potential sale or spin-off of the division.

On May 16, 2007, Quanex publicly announced the strategic review of the Building Products Group. Lazard commenced a sale process for the Building Products Group on May 17, 2007. In total, 72 prospective strategic and financial buyers were contacted, 36 confidentiality agreements were signed and 36 confidential information memoranda were distributed. On July 11, 2007, 11 preliminary indications of interest were received from prospective financial buyers for the Building Products Group

On July 14, 2007, Quanex s Board met with Lazard and approved five parties to be invited to conduct detailed due diligence on the Building Products Group, to include site visits, management presentations and access to an electronic data room. At this meeting the Board of Directors also gave Lazard approval to begin

18

#### **Table of Contents**

contacting a targeted list of potential strategic buyers for the Vehicular Products Group to solicit preliminary indications of interest. Lazard contacted 19 parties regarding the Vehicular Products Group, from which eight confidentiality agreements were signed and eight confidential information packages were distributed.

In early August 2007, two of the bidders for the Building Products Group elected not to continue with that process, citing deteriorating U.S. credit market conditions. The remaining three bidders attended management presentations in early August, but significantly reduced or retracted their preliminary indications of interest, also citing deteriorating U.S. credit market conditions. During this period the U.S. new home construction market also began to rapidly deteriorate, which significantly reduced management s confidence that an attractive sale price could be secured for the Building Products Group.

On August 28, 2007, the Quanex Board of Directors met with Lazard and discussed the merits of a taxable spin-off of the Building Products Group as a means to facilitate the continuation of the sales process for the Vehicular Products Group.

On September 10, 2007, five preliminary indications of interest were received for the Vehicular Products Group ranging from \$1,000 million to \$1,300 million in enterprise value. All five parties were invited to a second round of due diligence, which included management presentations in Houston, Texas, and access to an electronic data room.

On October 12, 2007, the remaining bidders were provided with draft forms of the merger agreement and the spin-off related agreements for their review. Bidders were instructed to submit their second round offers on a per share basis for Quanex, subject to the separation of the Building Products Group through a taxable spin-off, assuming a certain level of net financial debt and other corporate adjustments.

On October 24, 2007, three parties submitted non-binding, all cash offers for Quanex. These offers ranged from \$19.20 to \$32.61 per share, representing \$919 million to \$1,418 million in enterprise value. In addition, one other offer was submitted under an alternative transaction structure.

On October 28, 2007, the Quanex Board met with Lazard to discuss the various offers received and to review the merits of the alternative transaction structure. After review, the Board of Directors instructed Lazard to invite Gerdau and another company to proceed with a third and final round of confirmatory due diligence and final contract negotiations. In addition, the Board of Directors instructed Lazard to determine whether the company that submitted the alternative transaction structure would be prepared to submit an offer on an all cash basis similar to the other offers received. This company declined to proceed on that basis soon thereafter. The Board of Directors also reviewed the merits of a spin-off transaction involving the Building Products Group and decided that Quanex should proceed with a taxable spin-off of the Building Products Group to Quanex stockholders immediately prior to the closing of any transaction involving the Vehicular Products Group.

From October 29, 2007 to November 16, 2007, representatives of Quanex and Quanex s legal advisors continued to negotiate the terms of the merger agreement, the spin-off related agreements and the associated schedules to those agreements with the two remaining bidders. At the same time, both remaining bidders conducted extensive additional due diligence through written questions responded to by Quanex management and telephone conferences attended by representatives of the bidders, their legal counsel, accountants and financial advisers and Quanex s management, legal counsel, accountants and financial advisers. Both bidders were also provided with the opportunity to visit several of the facilities of the Vehicular Products Group in Lansing, Michigan, Jackson, Michigan, Monroe, Michigan, and Ft. Smith, Arkansas.

On the evening of November 16, 2007, Gerdau and the second bidder submitted their final bids to Quanex together with the forms of agreements they would be willing to enter into with Quanex. Gerdau presented a bid of \$40.02 per

share of outstanding Quanex common stock, or \$1,673 million in enterprise value. The second bidder presented a bid of \$38.67 per share of outstanding Quanex common stock, or \$1,623 million in enterprise value. That night and into the next morning Lazard evaluated the financial impact of the bids while Quanex s legal counsel evaluated the draft documents provided with the bids.

19

#### **Table of Contents**

On November 17, 2007, attorneys for Quanex and Gerdau continued negotiating certain provisions of the agreements. In addition, Lazard representatives held conversations with representatives of the second bidder regarding certain commercial positions that the bidder was proposing in its form of agreements that varied from Quanex s expectations for the agreements.

To facilitate the bidding process, Quanex advised the bidders to make their bids based on the assumption that Quanex, not the Building Products Group, would remain liable for Quanex's convertible notes and certain expenses of the transaction, including expenses dependent on Quanex's share price such as the cost of employee stock options, restricted stock and restricted stock units and change-in-control obligations, in a stated amount. Pursuant to the agreements between Quanex and the Building Products Group, if the actual amount, as determined by Quanex's share price at closing, exceeded the stated amount, the Building Products Group would reimburse Quanex, and if the actual amount was less than the stated amount, Quanex would pay the Building Products Group the difference. Based on the enterprise values reflected in the two final bids, management of Quanex believed that the stated amount underestimated the actual cost of these liabilities and therefore would require the Building Products Group to make a payment to Quanex. To avoid this result, Quanex instructed Gerdau to mathematically adjust its bid to reflect a higher stated amount which would result in it acquiring Quanex with a larger liability. This mathematical adjustment changed the Gerdau bid to \$39.20 per share of outstanding Quanex common stock but that bid, with assumed liabilities, continued to reflect an enterprise value of \$1,673 million.

On the morning of November 18, 2007, at a telephonic special meeting of the Quanex Board of Directors, the Board met to discuss the two bids that had been submitted and the status of negotiations regarding the respective sets of agreements with both bidders. Raymond Jean and other members of senior management of Quanex discussed certain aspects of both bids and the progress that had been made with Gerdau both in the amount of their bid and the status of the transaction agreements. Also, representatives of Lazard presented an overview of the financial aspects of the proposed merger. At the meeting, Lazard delivered its oral opinion to the Quanex Board of Directors followed by delivery of its written opinion, dated November 18, 2007, as described under Opinion of Lazard Frères & Co. LLC Quanex s Financial Advisor, to the effect that, as of that date, and based upon and subject to the assumptions made, matters considered and limitations described in the opinion, the consideration to be paid in the merger to holders of shares of Quanex common stock (other than holders of dissenters shares and shares of Quanex common stock owned directly by Quanex as treasury stock or by Gerdau or Gerdau Delaware, and in each case not held on behalf of third parties) was fair to such holders from a financial point of view. The Board approved the merger agreement and authorized the Company to enter into the merger agreement with Gerdau and, contingent upon completion of the merger, approved the distribution of Quanex Building Products to Quanex s stockholders.

On November 18, 2007, representatives of the Company and Gerdau executed and delivered the merger agreement.

## **Quanex** s Reasons for the Merger

Following a review and discussion of all relevant information regarding the merger, Quanex s Board of Directors determined that the merger is in the best interests of Quanex and its stockholders. In reaching their conclusion, the members of Quanex s Board of Directors relied on their personal knowledge of Quanex and the served industries of its operating groups, and the advice of management and Quanex s legal and financial advisors. The Quanex Board considered numerous factors in favor of the merger agreement, including, among other things, the following:

Separating the Building Products Group from the Vehicular Products Group Enhances Stockholder Value. Separating the groups will better enable each group to reach its full potential. Management did not see the Vehicular Products Group as a consolidator in the steel industry and believes it would be disadvantaged over time in servicing its increasingly global vehicular customers. The ongoing steel consolidation trend, where company size and geographic location can make a competitive difference, is expected to continue. With respect

to the Building Products Group, management and the Quanex Board believe it should be managed under an invest for growth strategy and that there are rapid growth

20

#### **Table of Contents**

opportunities, both organically (particularly as the housing sector rebounds), through new product introduction, and through an acquisition program. Management and the Board also believe the focus on the Building Products Group will permit more corporate vigor and a new level of creativity to be applied to stimulate profitable growth in this sector business.

Creating Stockholder Value With Respect to Quanex s Vehicular Products Group. The cash to be paid to stockholders, per the terms of the merger agreement, represent a fair value in exchange for the assets and liabilities being assumed by Gerdau. Recent consolidation activity in the market has created enhanced value for a well-positioned business like the Vehicular Products Group. However, it has also created future uncertainty with the potential addition of much larger competitors. As a result, the Board believes that at present there is an unusual opportunity to realize capitalized value for the Quanex stockholders. This view is supported by the fact that the earnings multiple represented by the enterprise value implicit in the total consideration is equal to or higher than multiples paid for similarly situated steel companies in recent years.

Opportunity to Raise Equity Market Valuation. Over the past decade, the current Quanex portfolio of companies has not been rewarded in the equities markets with strong valuation metrics. Equity analysts and institutional investment managers often specialize in specific economic sectors. Because of its unique combination of specialty steel bar mills serving primarily automotive applications, positioned alongside building products businesses serving primarily residential, new home and remodeling markets, Quanex has not neatly fallen into any one investment category, nor has it been classified as a diversified industrial. In addition, Quanex shares have traditionally traded at earnings multiples more in line with steel companies rather than the higher multiples typically associated with building products manufacturers. Management and the Board believe that a separately traded Building Products Group may trade at a higher multiple.

The Quanex Board therefore concluded that the merger and the spin-off present an opportunity to maximize the cash value of the Vehicular Products Group under favorable circumstances while giving our stockholders the opportunity to participate in a pure play building products business with greater growth and market pricing potential.

### **Recommendation of the Quanex Board of Directors**

After careful consideration of the matters discussed above, the Quanex Board of Directors concluded that the proposed merger is advisable and in the best interests of the stockholders of Quanex.

FOR THE REASONS SET FORTH ABOVE, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF QUANEX HAS UNANIMOUSLY ADOPTED THE MERGER AGREEMENT AS BEING ADVISABLE AND IN THE BEST INTERESTS OF QUANEX AND ITS STOCKHOLDERS, AND UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS THAT QUANEX S STOCKHOLDERS VOTE FOR APPROVAL AND ADOPTION OF THE MERGER AGREEMENT.

## Opinion of Lazard Frères & Co. LLC Quanex s Financial Advisor

Under an engagement letter dated as of October 21, 2006, as amended and restated as of March 16, 2007, Quanex retained Lazard to act as its investment banker in connection with certain potential transactions involving Quanex and its businesses. As part of that engagement, the Board of Directors of Quanex requested that Lazard evaluate the fairness to the holders of shares of Quanex common stock (other than holders of dissenters—shares and shares of Quanex common stock owned directly by Quanex as treasury stock or by Gerdau or Gerdau Delaware, and in each case not held on behalf of third parties), from a financial point of view, of the consideration to be received by such holders in the merger. On November, 18, 2007, Lazard rendered its opinion to Quanex—s Board of Directors that, as of that date, and subject to certain assumptions, limitations, factors and qualifications set forth therein, the merger

consideration of \$39.20 per share in cash to be received by each holder of shares of Company common stock (other than holders of dissenters shares and shares of Quanex common stock owned directly by Quanex as treasury stock or by Gerdau or Gerdau

21

#### **Table of Contents**

Delaware, and in each case not held on behalf of third parties)in the merger was fair to such holders from a financial point of view.

The full text of the Lazard opinion, which was approved by Lazard's opinion committee and which sets forth, among other things, the assumptions made, procedures followed, matters considered and qualifications and limitations on the review undertaken by Lazard in connection with the opinion, is attached as Annex B to this proxy statement and is incorporated into this proxy statement by reference. You are urged to read Lazard's opinion carefully in its entirety.

In connection with rendering its opinion, Lazard:

- (i) reviewed the financial terms and conditions of the draft, dated November 18, 2007, of the merger agreement;
- (ii) analyzed certain publicly available historical business and financial information relating to Quanex;
- (iii) reviewed various financial forecasts and other data provided to Lazard by the management of Quanex relating to the business and prospects of Quanex after giving effect to the disposition of Quanex s Building Products Group;
- (iv) held discussions with members of the senior management of Quanex with respect to the business and prospects of Quanex after giving effect to the disposition of Quanex s Building Products Group;
- (v) reviewed public information with respect to certain other companies in lines of business Lazard believes to be generally comparable to the business of Quanex after giving effect to the disposition of Quanex s Building Products Group;
- (vi) reviewed the financial terms of certain business combinations involving companies in lines of business Lazard believes to be generally comparable to the business of Quanex after giving effect to the disposition of Quanex s Building Products Group;
- (vii) reviewed the historical stock prices and trading volumes of Quanex s common stock; and
- (viii) conducted such other financial studies, analyses and investigations as Lazard deemed appropriate.

Lazard relied upon the accuracy and completeness of the foregoing information and did not assume any responsibility for any independent verification of (and did not independently verify) such information or any independent valuation or appraisal of any of the assets or liabilities of Quanex or concerning the solvency or fair value of Quanex. With respect to financial forecasts, Lazard assumed that they were reasonably prepared on bases reflecting the best currently available estimates and judgments of the management of Quanex as to the future financial performance of Quanex. Lazard assumed no responsibility for and expressed no view as to such forecasts or the assumptions on which they were based.

In rendering its opinion, Lazard assumed that the merger agreement would be identical in all material respects to the draft merger agreement reviewed by Lazard and that the merger would be consummated on the terms described in the merger agreement without any waiver or modification of any material terms or conditions. Lazard further assumed that obtaining the necessary regulatory approvals and contractual consents for the merger and the disposition of the Building Products Group would not have an adverse effect on Quanex or the merger. In addition, Lazard assumed the representations and warranties contained in the merger agreement and all agreements related thereto were true and correct in all material respects. Lazard did not express any opinion as to any tax or other consequences that might result from the merger or the disposition of the Building Products Group, nor did the Lazard opinion address any

legal, tax, regulatory or accounting matters, as to which Lazard understood that Quanex obtained such advice it deemed necessary from qualified professionals. In addition, Lazard did not express any opinion about the fairness of the amount or nature of, or any other aspect of, the compensation to any of Quanex s officers, directors or employees, or any class of such persons, relative to the merger consideration to be paid to Quanex s public stockholders or otherwise.

22

#### **Table of Contents**

In rendering the Lazard opinion, Lazard further assumed that the stockholders of Quanex prior to the consummation of the merger (and not the owners of Quanex after giving effect to the merger) will either own or be entitled to receive the proceeds of the disposition of Quanex s Building Products Group. Lazard expressed no opinion as to the value of Quanex s Building Products Group or as to the fairness or any other aspect of the disposition of Quanex s Building Products Group.

Lazard s opinion was for the benefit of the Board of Directors in connection with its consideration of the merger and only addressed the fairness to the holders of shares of common stock (other than holders of dissenters—shares and shares of Quanex common stock owned directly by Quanex as treasury stock or by Gerdau or Gerdau Delaware, and in each case not held on behalf of third parties) of the merger consideration to be paid to such holders in the merger from a financial point of view as of the date of the Lazard opinion. Lazard—s written opinion did not address the relative merits of the merger as compared to other business strategies or transactions that might be available to Quanex or the underlying decision by Quanex to engage in the merger, and was not intended to and does not constitute a recommendation to Quanex—s stockholders as to how such stockholders should vote with respect to the merger or any matter relating thereto. Lazard—s opinion was necessarily based on economic, monetary, market and other conditions as in effect on, and the information made available to Lazard as of, the date of the Lazard opinion. Lazard assumed no responsibility for updating or revising the Lazard opinion based on circumstances or events occurring after the date of the Lazard opinion. Lazard expressed no opinion as to the price at which shares of Quanex—s common stock may trade at any time subsequent to the announcement of the merger. The following is only a summary of the Lazard opinion. You are urged to read the entire Lazard opinion.

The following is a summary of the material financial analyses that Lazard performed in connection with rendering its opinion. The summary of Lazard s analyses described below is not a complete description of the analyses underlying Lazard s opinion. The preparation of a fairness opinion is a complex analytical process involving various determinations as to the most appropriate and relevant methods of financial analyses and the application of those methods to the particular circumstances, and, therefore, is not readily susceptible to summary description. In arriving at its opinion, Lazard considered the results of all the analyses and did not attribute any particular weight to any factor or analysis considered by it; rather, Lazard made its determination as to fairness on the basis of its experience and professional judgment after considering the results of all of the analyses.

For purposes of its analyses, Lazard considered industry performance, general business, economic, market and financial conditions and other matters, many of which are beyond the control of Quanex. No company, transaction or business used in Lazard s analyses as a comparison is identical to Quanex, either before or after giving effect to the disposition of the Building Products Group, or the merger, and an evaluation of the results of those analyses is not entirely mathematical. Rather, the analyses involve complex considerations and judgments concerning financial and operating characteristics and other factors that could affect the acquisition, public trading or other values of the companies, business segments or transactions analyzed. The estimates contained in Lazard s analyses and the ranges of valuations resulting from any particular analysis are not necessarily indicative of actual values or predictive of future results or values, which may be significantly more or less favorable than those suggested by the analyses. In addition, analyses relating to the value of businesses or securities do not purport to be appraisals or to reflect the prices at which businesses or securities actually may be sold. Accordingly, the estimates used in, and the results derived from, Lazard s analyses are inherently subject to substantial uncertainty.

The financial analyses summarized below include information presented in tabular format. In order to fully understand Lazard s financial analyses, the tables must be read together with the text of each summary. The tables alone do not constitute a complete description of the financial analyses. Considering the data in the tables below without considering the full narrative description of the financial analyses, including the methodologies and assumptions underlying the analyses, could create a misleading or incomplete view of Lazard s financial analyses.

#### **Table of Contents**

### Financial Analyses

Discounted Cash Flow Analysis. Based on the base case and downside case projections provided to Lazard by Quanex, Lazard performed a discounted cash flow analysis of Quanex to calculate the estimated present value of the standalone, unlevered, after-tax free cash flow that Quanex, after giving effect to the disposition of the Building Products Group, could generate during the fiscal years ended October 31, 2008 through October 31, 2011. Lazard calculated estimated terminal values for Quanex, after giving effect to the disposition of the Building Products Group, by applying a range of multiples of 5.0x to 6.0x to Quanex s fiscal year ended October 31, 2011 base case and downside case estimated earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, referred to as EBITDA. The standalone, unlevered, after-tax free cash flows and terminal values were discounted to present value using discount rates ranging from 11.25% to 12.75%, which were based on the weighted average cost of capital of a selected group of global steel producers. Based on this analysis, Lazard calculated an implied enterprise value range for Quanex of approximately \$915 million to \$1,080 million in the base case and \$720 million to \$840 million in the downside case. A company s enterprise value is equal to its short and long term debt plus the market value of its common equity and the value of any preferred stock (at liquidation value), minus its cash and cash equivalents.

Comparable Company Analysis. Lazard reviewed and analyzed selected public companies in the steel industry that it viewed as reasonably comparable to Quanex, after giving effect to the disposition of the Building Products Group. In performing these analyses, Lazard reviewed and analyzed publicly available financial information relating to the selected companies and compared that information to the corresponding information for Quanex, after giving effect to the disposition of the Building Products Group, based on the forecasts of management of Quanex. Specifically, Lazard compared Quanex, after giving effect to the disposition of the Building Products Group, to the following five public companies in the steel industry:

The Timken Company;

Steel Dynamics, Inc.;

Nucor Corporation;

Commercial Metals Company; and

Gerdau Ameristeel Corporation.

Based on equity analysts estimates and other public information, Lazard reviewed, among other things, the enterprise value of each selected comparable company as a multiple of such company s estimated EBITDA, for calendar year 2008, and each comparable company s closing stock price on November 16, 2007, as a multiple of such comparable company s estimated earnings per share, referred to as EPS, for calendar year 2008.

Lazard calculated the following multiples for the above comparable companies:

	Enterprise Value/EBITDA CY 2008E	November 16, 2007 Closing Stock Price/EPS CY 2008E
Low	4.8x	7.3x
Mean	5.3x	9.2x

High 5.8x 10.6x

Based on the foregoing, Lazard applied EBITDA multiples of 5.0x to 6.0x to Quanex s calendar year 2008 estimated EBITDA, after giving effect to the disposition of the Building Products Group, provided by Quanex s management, and determined an implied enterprise value range of \$970 million to \$1,165 million.

Comparable Transactions Analysis. Lazard reviewed and analyzed selected precedent merger and acquisition transactions involving companies in the steel industry. In performing these analyses, Lazard analyzed certain financial information and transaction multiples relating to companies in the selected transactions and compared such information to the corresponding information for Quanex, after giving effect to the disposition of the Building Products Group. Specifically, Lazard reviewed 14 merger and acquisition

24

#### **Table of Contents**

transactions since November 2005 involving companies in the steel industry for which sufficient public information was available. Lazard reviewed, among other things, the transaction value of each acquired company implied by the transaction as a multiple of the acquired company s EBITDA for the last twelve months, or LTM, prior to the public announcement of the transaction.

The precedent transactions were (listed by acquirer followed by the acquired company and the date the transaction was publicly announced):

Acquirer	<b>Target Company</b>	<b>Announcement Date</b>
United States Steel Corporation	Stelco Inc.	8/26/2007
Gerdau Ameristeel Corporation	Chaparral Steel Company	7/3/2007
SSAB Svenskt Stal AB	IPSCO Inc.	5/3/2007
Ternium S.A.	Grupo Imsa, S.A.B. de C.V.	4/30/2007
Essar Steel Limited	Algoma Steel Corporation	4/15/2007
United States Steel Corporation	Lone Star Technologies, Inc.	3/29/2007
Nucor Corporation	Harris Steel Group Inc.	1/2/2007
Evraz Group S.A.	Oregon Steel Mills, Inc.	11/20/2006
IPSCO Inc.	NS Group Inc.	9/11/2006
KNIA Holdings, Inc.	Niagara Corporation	7/19/2006
Mittal Steel Company N.V.	Arcelor S.A.	6/25/2006
Tenaris S.A.	Maverick Tube Corporation	6/12/2006
Black Diamond Capital Management, L.L.C.	Bayou Steel Corporation	3/17/2006
Arcelor S.A.	Dofasco Inc.	11/23/2005

Lazard calculated the following multiple for the above selected transactions used in its analysis:

Transaction Value as a Multiple of LTM EBITDA

Low	3.8x
Mean	7.5x
Median	7.5x
High	9.9x

Based on the foregoing, Lazard applied LTM EBITDA multiples of 7.0x to 8.9x to Quanex s LTM EBITDA as provided by Quanex s management, and determined an implied enterprise value range of \$1,130 million to \$1.430 million.

## Miscellaneous

In connection with Lazard s services as investment banker to Quanex, Quanex agreed to pay Lazard a fee of 0.7% of the aggregate transaction consideration, or \$11.7 million, a substantial portion of which is payable upon consummation of the merger. Lazard will also be entitled to receive a separate fee in connection with the disposition of Quanex s Building Products Group. Lazard and Quanex have agreed that if the disposition of the buildings products business is accomplished through a spin-off, split-off or similar transaction, and Lazard serves as the resulting entity s

investment banker in connection with a subsequent sale, merger, consolidation or business combination transaction, within 18 months following the disposition, a portion of the fee to be paid to Lazard in connection with Quanex s disposition of the Building Products Group will be credited against the fee payable to Lazard by the resulting entity in such second stage transaction. The Company has also agreed to reimburse Lazard for all expenses incurred in connection with the engagement and to indemnify Lazard and certain related parties against certain liabilities under certain circumstances that may arise out of the rendering of its advice, including certain liabilities under U.S. federal securities laws.

25

#### **Table of Contents**

Lazard, as part of its investment banking business, is continually engaged in the valuation of businesses and their securities in connection with mergers and acquisitions, negotiated underwritings, secondary distributions of listed and unlisted securities, private placements, leveraged buyouts, and valuations for estate, corporate and other purposes. In addition, in the ordinary course of their respective businesses, affiliates of Lazard and LFCM Holdings LLC (an entity owned in large part by managing directors of Lazard) may actively trade securities of Quanex and/or the securities of Gerdau for their own accounts and for the accounts of their customers and, accordingly, may at any time hold for a long or short position in such securities.

Lazard is an internationally recognized investment banking firm providing a full range of financial advisory and securities services. Lazard was selected to act as investment banker to Quanex because of its qualifications, expertise and reputation in investment banking and mergers and acquisitions, as well as its familiarity with the businesses of Ouanex.

The opinion of Lazard was one of many factors taken into consideration by Quanex s Board of Directors. Consequently, the analyses described above should not be viewed as determinative of the opinion of Quanex s Board of Directors with respect to the merger consideration or of whether Quanex s Board of Directors would have been willing to recommend a merger transaction with different merger consideration. Additionally, Lazard s opinion is not intended to confer any rights or remedies upon any employee or creditor of Quanex.

## **Regulatory Matters**

The merger is subject to review by the DOJ and the FTC under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Act. The Hart-Scott-Rodino Act, and the rules promulgated under it by the FTC, prevent transactions, such as the merger, from being completed until required information and materials are furnished to the DOJ and the FTC and certain waiting periods are terminated or expire. The initial waiting period is 30 days after both parties have filed the applicable notifications, but this period may be extended if the reviewing agency issues a formal request for additional information and documentary material, referred to as a second request. On November 30, 2007, the parties submitted the notification filings with the DOJ and the FTC. The waiting period under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Act will expire on December 31, 2007, unless each party receives early termination of the waiting period before that time.

The DOJ, the FTC and others may also challenge the merger on antitrust grounds either before or after expiration or termination of the waiting period. Accordingly, at any time before or after the completion of the merger, the DOJ, the FTC or another regulatory agency could take action under the antitrust laws as it deems necessary or desirable in the public interest, including seeking to enjoin the completion of the merger or permitting completion subject to regulatory concessions or conditions. We cannot assure you that a challenge to the merger will not be made or that, if a challenge is made, it will not prevail.

A party or parties to a transaction may, but are not required to, submit to the Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States, which we refer to as CFIUS, in accordance with the regulations implementing Section 721 of the Defense Production Act of 1950, as amended, a voluntary notice of the transaction. Section 721 empowers the President of the United States to prohibit or suspend an acquisition of, or investment in, a U.S. company by a foreign person if the President of the United States, after investigation, finds credible evidence that the foreign person might take action that threatens to impair the national security of the United States and that other provisions of existing law, other than the International Emergency Economic Powers Act, do not provide adequate and appropriate authority to protect the national security. CFIUS has the authority to receive notices of proposed transactions, determine when an investigation is warranted, conduct investigations and submit recommendations to the President of the United States to suspend or prohibit the completion of transactions or to require divestitures of completed transactions.